STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The District of Columbia Retirement Board ("DCRB") appeals from the Superior Court's order remanding this case to the Office of Employee Appeals ("OEA"). For the reasons set forth below, that remand was based on a "clear error of law" and is therefore a final order that this Court has jurisdiction to review under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

OEA ordered DCRB to reinstate its former general counsel, Erie Sampson, based on a procedural rule that applies to Career Service employees. But under unambiguous provisions of the D.C. Code, Sampson is a member of the Senior Executive Attorney Service—not the Career Service—and so is not subject to OEA jurisdiction or protections. The Superior Court nevertheless remanded for OEA to make factual findings on this legal question. The issues presented for review are:

- 1. Does this Court have jurisdiction over this appeal under the "clear error of law" exception to the finality requirement?
- 2. Did the Superior Court commit a clear error of law in remanding to OEA to resolve "factual disputes," when the D.C. Code unambiguously establishes that—based on Sampson's undisputed employment position—OEA lacks jurisdiction?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After Appellant DCRB removed Appellee Erie Sampson from her position as DCRB's General Counsel, she filed a petition with Appellee OEA. OEA held that DCRB violated a rule requiring agencies to take disciplinary action against Career Service employees within 90 days of learning of the basis for that action and ordered DCRB to reinstate Sampson as General Counsel.

DCRB petitioned for review of OEA's decision in the Superior Court. Sampson intervened to defend the decision; OEA declined to file a brief. The Superior Court addressed only DCRB's argument that OEA lacked jurisdiction on the ground that DCRB's general counsel is, as a matter of law, a member of the Senior Executive Attorney Service rather than the Career Service—such that Sampson's position is not subject to Career Service protections and OEA review. The court held that Sampson's classification is "potentially dispositive in this matter," but remanded to OEA to resolve that issue in the first instance.

DCRB then filed a notice of appeal in this Court, challenging the Superior Court's decision to remand the case instead of setting OEA's ruling aside for lack of jurisdiction. This Court issued a show-cause order questioning whether the decision below was final and appealable. This Court subsequently discharged the order and instructed the parties to address that issue in their briefs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. DCRB and Its General Counsel

DCRB is an "independent agency" of the District of Columbia government. D.C. Code § 1-711(a). It is charged by law with "serv[ing] the interests of the District's Police Officers, Firefighters, Teachers and their Survivors by prudently investing [pension] Fund assets and delivering accurate and timely benefit payments with excellent member service." D.C. Retirement Board, *About Us: DCRB Mission Statement*, *available at* dcrb.dc.gov/page/about-dcrb; *see also* D.C. Code § 1-715(a) (requiring DCRB to "manage and invest [the retirement fund] assets in accordance with this chapter").

A twelve-member Board of Trustees ("the Board") governs the fund. The Board has exclusive authority, within the bounds set by the D.C. Code, to manage and control the pension fund's assets and to pay benefits. D.C. Code § 1-711(b)(1)(A). DCRB also employs a full-time Executive Director who reports directly to the Board. JA123–24.¹ Several senior executives, in turn, report to the Executive Director, including (as relevant here) the General Counsel. *Id.*

The General Counsel is DCRB's chief legal and ethics officer. JA203. This individual is charged with duties that are key to carrying out DCRB's mission.

¹ Citations to "JA[#]" refer to the Joint Appendix filed concurrently with this brief.

The General Counsel supervises DCRB's investment ethics and risk-compliance processes; represents DCRB in all legal matters; provides legal advice to the Board, the Executive Director, and other staff; and ensures DCRB's compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, and rules. *Id.* The role includes a specific responsibility to "keep the Board apprised of specific ethical/legal risks and governmental investigations affecting DCRB and its investment advisors." JA219. The General Counsel also manages DCRB's legal department, supervises external legal counsel, and negotiates and drafts contracts for DCRB. JA203.

Sampson became DCRB's General Counsel in 2008. JA99.

B. Sampson's Misconduct and Termination

In September 2021, allegations surfaced that Sampson had withheld important information from the Board. Early that month, J.P. Balestrieri took over as DCRB's new Executive Director. JA227. A few weeks into his tenure, an employee who reported to Sampson met with Balestrieri and raised serious concerns regarding Sampson's conduct. JA227–28. The employee asserted that Sampson had learned that a previous Executive Director had asked one of DCRB's fund managers for help finding a paid board seat after she retired from DCRB—an effort to secure a lucrative personal favor from a fund manager that would have created a clear conflict of interest on the Executive Director's part. JA214. Yet, the employee asserted, Sampson never disclosed this information

to the Board, even as it was considering a new \$75-million investment with the fund manager. JA215–16. If true, this allegation would mean Sampson had flagrantly violated her duty to keep the Board apprised of legal and ethical considerations relevant to its investment decisions, compromising DCRB's ability to carry out its duties to its beneficiaries.

These were, however, only allegations. The employee had not provided any supporting proof. JA210. And Balestrieri, only a few weeks into the job, had no independent basis for assessing the veracity of the employee's claims. Nor had he heard from Sampson about these allegations.

As such, Balestrieri concluded that the allegations required an investigation. He placed Sampson on paid administrative leave and commissioned an independent investigator. JA228. The investigator interviewed the relevant parties, including Sampson herself. JA208–09. In that interview, Sampson confirmed the basic allegations against her. JA 217–18. Not only that, but she explained that she had reported the conflict of interest to the District's Office of the Inspector General—but *not* to her superiors or the Board, in violation of her duties as General Counsel. *Id.* And she informed the investigator of still other misconduct that she knew of—again involving DCRB investment managers—but that she never disclosed to the Board. *Id.*

The investigation thus revealed that, as the investigator's report stated, Sampson had failed to disclose "several important legal and ethical matters facing DCRB." JA222. After receiving the report, Balestrieri concluded that he did not have confidence in Sampson's ability to serve as General Counsel. He sent her a notice of proposed removal from her position in April 2023. JA161–64.

C. The Proceedings Below

Proceeding under the (erroneous, as explained below) assumption that she was entitled to the heightened tenure protections and procedural rights reserved for career civil servants, Sampson appealed her proposed termination to a hearing officer. JA134. She argued that, by waiting to investigate her alleged misconduct before firing her, DCRB had violated Career Service employees' protection under the "90-day rule." JA137–38. That rule requires an agency to take disciplinary action against an employee (if at all) within 90 days of when it "knew or should have known" about the employee's misconduct. D.C. Mun. Regs. subt. 6-B § 1602.3(a). The hearing officer rejected this argument and found Sampson to have waived any other challenge to her termination. JA140–41, 144–45. Balestrieri then made Sampson's removal final. JA117–22.

Sampson appealed to OEA, challenging the hearing officer's application of the 90-day rule (and also trying to raise new contentions). JA109–14. Treating Sampson as a Career Service employee, OEA concluded that DCRB *had*

violated the 90-day rule, and on that basis ordered DCRB to reinstate her as its General Counsel. JA230–33. It reasoned that DCRB "knew of the actions that supported the current adverse action" in September 2021 (when Balestrieri heard a single employee's unverified allegation against Sampson) and that DCRB's failure to fire her within 90 days of that meeting (during which time DCRB was investigating the allegations) meant it was barred from removing her. JA231.

DCRB timely petitioned for review of that decision in the Superior Court. JA6; *see* D.C. Code § 1-606.03(d) (granting jurisdiction over OEA orders). Its lead argument was that OEA never should have heard Sampson's case because it has no jurisdiction over an employee holding Sampson's position. JA24–27. DCRB explained that the D.C. Code expressly makes all general counsels of independent agencies—including DCRB—members of the "Senior Executive Attorney Service." JA26. And DCRB further showed that, under the D.C. Code, Senior Executive Attorneys serve at will—and so are *not* entitled to Career Service protections and procedures, including OEA review and the 90-day rule. JA24–25; *see Grant v. District of Columbia*, 908 A.2d 1173, 1178 (D.C. 2006) (explaining that the CMPA "provide[s] procedural protections" only to "Career Service employees" and not at-will employees).²

² DCRB also argued that, if Sampson was a Career Service employee, it had satisfied the 90-day rule.

Sampson, for her part, agreed that DCRB was free to "raise [this] jurisdictional challenge." JA50. And she did not dispute that, if she had been a Senior Executive Attorney, there would be no OEA jurisdiction. *Id.*³ But Sampson largely eschewed any attempt at rebutting DCRB's argument that, under the D.C. Code, her position as the general counsel of an independent agency was defined as a Senior Executive Attorney position. Instead, she argued that DCRB had the authority to reclassify her as a Career Service employee and had done so by treating her as such. JA49–50, 59–75.

The Superior Court addressed only Sampson's employment classification, because it was "potentially dispositive." JA108. The court thus walked through the relevant statutory definitions. JA106. And it recognized those provisions as establishing that, if Sampson was a Senior Executive Attorney, "she would not have the same rights and procedural protections as a Career Service employee, and OEA would not have jurisdiction over this matter." JA106 (quoting D.C. Code § 1-698.53(b)).

Despite acknowledging the statutory definitions that govern Senior Executive Attorney status, the Superior Court declined to say how those statutes applied to Sampson's undisputed position as the general counsel of an independent

Sampson intervened in the Superior Court proceedings to defend OEA's decision. OEA submitted a "statement in lieu of [a] brief," in which it said that it was simply "rely[ing] on the final decision in the matter." JA36.

agency. Instead, the court recounted Sampson's argument that her status as a Career Service employee was established by "her official personnel records," and that DCRB's conduct in earlier proceedings reflected a belief that she was a Career Service Employee. JA107. In light of those arguments, the court concluded that determining Sampson's status "requires the resolution of certain factual disputes, including those raised by [Sampson] in this Court." *Id.* And because OEA had made no factual findings on this issue, the court held that it "must return this issue to OEA." JA107–08. It thus remanded for OEA to determine "(1) whether [Sampson's] status was Career Service, Legal Service, or Senior Executive Attorney Service at the time DCRB commenced its removal action against her; and (2) whether OEA has subject-matter jurisdiction to hear [Sampson's] appeal." JA108.

D. Proceedings in This Court

DCRB timely appealed. On October 16, 2024, this Court ordered DCRB to "show cause why this appeal should not be dismissed for having been taken from a non-final, non-appealable order." Oct. 16, 2024 Show Cause Order. DCRB explained that, although remand orders are usually not immediately appealable, this Court has recognized an exception where the Superior Court "committed a clear error of law in ordering a remand." *Warner v. D.C. Dep't of Emp. Servs.*, 587 A.2d 1091, 1093–94 (D.C. 1991). Although this Court did not

call for a submission from Sampson, she put in a response of her own. In contending that the decision below was not final, she acknowledged the "clear error of law" exception, without offering any argument as to why it would not apply here. *See* Nov. 6, 2024 Response to Appellant's Response to Order to Show Cause.⁴

On December 9, this Court discharged the show-cause order. The Court ordered the parties to address in their briefs "the 'clear error of law' finality exception, including what it means for a legal error to be 'clear,' and whether this court should later dismiss this appeal unless [DCRB] shows in briefing that the trial court's remand order was not simply erroneous but predicated on a 'clear error of law.'" Dec. 9, 2024 Order Discharging Show Cause Order.

_

⁴ Sampson also argued that DCRB had not met the requirements for a permissive appeal—but DCRB is not pursuing a permissive appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal because the Superior Court's order remanding to OEA was based on a clear error of law. Although orders remanding cases for further proceedings are presumptively non-final and not immediately appealable, this Court has long recognized an exception to this rule when the remand was based on a clear error of law.

This Court has not clearly articulated what the "clear error of law" standard requires. But past uses of the phrase, along with the context underlying the exception, show that this Court's jurisdiction extends to reversing remand orders that were unambiguously based on a legal error—the same standard that this Court applies when reviewing a ruling for abuse of discretion. In contrast, the plain-error standard—which was employed in one case that this Court cited when discharging the show-cause order—is not a suitable analog for the "clear error of law" exception. The demanding plain-error standard is driven by the interest in encouraging parties to timely raise their legal arguments before the trial court in the first instance. Those concerns are not implicated when assessing whether a remand order was legally erroneous.

Under the "clear error of law" standard, the Court has jurisdiction—and should vacate the decision—because OEA unambiguously lacked jurisdiction.

The Superior Court recognized that, if Sampson was a Senior Executive

Attorney, OEA had no jurisdiction over her appeal. In nevertheless remanding to OEA on the premise that Sampson's factual contentions could affect that determination, the Superior Court committed a clear error of law.

After all, this case is controlled—and resolved—by unambiguous statutory provisions. The D.C. Code defines the Senior Executive Attorney Service to include *all* general counsels of independent agencies. D.C. Code § 1-608.51(3)(C). And no one disputes that Sampson was DCRB's General Counsel and that DCRB is an independent agency. Thus, clear statutory definitions, applied to undisputed facts, leave no room for OEA jurisdiction.

The Superior Court reached a different result only by crediting Sampson's argument that factual contentions about how DCRB characterized her status (in paperwork and litigation statements) could somehow convert her from a Senior Executive Attorney Service member to a Career Service member. That is clearly wrong. This Court has held that such facts cannot displace the statutory classifications of District employees. *Hoage v. Bd. of Trs. of the Univ. of the District of Columbia*, 714 A.2d 776 (D.C. 1998). By assuming otherwise, the Superior Court clearly erred. This Court should thus vacate that order and remand for the Superior Court to, in turn, vacate OEA's decision for lack of jurisdiction. (If, however, the Court concludes that the Superior Court did *not* commit a clear error of law, it would lack jurisdiction and so should dismiss the appeal.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

As no court has addressed the issue in the case, the Court must determine its own jurisdiction in the first instance. *See, e.g., Kubichek v. Unlimited Biking Wash., D.C., LLC*, 330 A.3d 1007, 1010 (D.C. 2025). The question whether OEA had subject-matter jurisdiction is a question of law and thus reviewed *de novo*. *Upson v. Wallace*, 3 A.3d 1148, 1154–55 (D.C. 2010).

ARGUMENT

I. This Court has jurisdiction under the "clear error of law" exception.

Although orders remanding cases to agencies generally are not final, this Court has applied an exception when a remand order was based on a "clear error of law." This Court has not clearly defined what this exception requires, but precedent instructs that it should be the same kind of legal error that would require this Court to reverse a trial court's exercise of discretion.

A. Review of an order remanding a case to an administrative agency is immediately reviewable when that order reflects a clear error of law.

This Court has jurisdiction over "final orders and judgments of the Superior Court of the District of Columbia." D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1). Although an order remanding a case to an administrative agency "[o]rdinarily ... is not a final order," this Court has recognized several exceptions to this rule. *Warner*, 587 A.2d at 1093. Relevant here, the Court has considered a remand order "final"

when "the agency has committed a clear error of law in ordering a remand." *Id.* Sampson agrees. *See* Nov. 6, 2024 Response to Appellant's Response to Order to Show Cause at 7–8.

This is no mere theoretical exception. The Court relied on it in reaching the merits of a Superior Court order remanding for administrative proceedings. *D.C. Pub. Emp. Relations Bd. v. Fraternal Order of Police*, 987 A.2d 1205, 1206 n.1 (D.C. 2010). And this Court has repeatedly reached the merits of remand orders without explanation, apparently relying on this exception implicitly. *See District of Columbia v. Fremeau*, 869 A.2d 711, 712 (D.C. 2005) (reversing a remand to OEA); *Off. of the D.C. Controller v. Frost*, 638 A.2d 657, 658 (D.C. 1994) (same); *Am. Fed'n of State, Cnty., & Mun. Emps. Local 2087 v. Univ. of the District of Columbia*, 166 A.3d 967, 72 n.9 (D.C. 2017) (discharging a show-cause order predicated on the non-finality of the remand decision).

This "clear error of law" exception makes perfect sense in light of the reasons behind the finality rule. That rule prevents "piecemeal review" of administrative decisions, in favor of reviewing an entire decision at once. *Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth. v. Dir., Off. of Workers' Comp.*, 824 F.2d 94, 95 (D.C. Cir. 1987). But when an order remanding a case to an agency rests on a clear error of law, considerations of judicial economy favor *immediate* review—not waiting for the agency to rehear the case and issue a decision that launches a fresh appeal. If a

remand invites an agency to make legally *irrelevant* factual findings, the inevitable outcome is another appeal challenging that error of law. And the reviewing court would not benefit from any legal determinations made by the agency, which would be reviewed *de novo* regardless. *Smith v. D.C. Dep't of Emp. Servs.*, 934 A.2d 428, 431 (D.C. 2007). Accordingly, when the Superior Court remands to an agency based on a clear error of law, this Court can and should review that remand order immediately.

When discharging its show-cause order, this Court also asked the parties to address "whether this court should later dismiss this appeal unless appellant shows in briefing that the trial court's remand order was not simply erroneous but predicated on a 'clear error of law.'" If this Court concludes that the decision below was either correct or not based on a "clear error of law," it would lack jurisdiction. "[T]he only function remaining to the court" would thus be "announcing" its lack of jurisdiction "and dismissing the cause." *Sum-Slaughter v. Fin. Indus. Regul. Auth., Inc.*, 320 A.3d 313, 321 (D.C. 2024).

B. A remand order is based on a "clear error of law" when the order is unambiguously based on a legal error.

In its discharge order, this Court directed the parties to brief "what it means for a legal error to be 'clear'" and cited a decision applying the "plain error" standard, suggesting that standard as a possible gloss. As the discharge order suggests, this Court has not specifically articulated what it takes for an

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