Clerk of the Court
Received 05/21/2025 08:41 PM
Filed 05/21/2025 08:41 PM

No. 24-CV-0922

**DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
COURT OF APPEALS**

District of Columbia Retirement Board,

Appellant,

v.

Office of Employee Appeals, et al.,

Appellees.

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE ERIE SAMPSON

**ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CIVIL DIVISION**

Re: No. 2023-CAB-005159 – The Honorable Jonathan H. Pittman

Dated: May 21, 2025

Donna Williams Rucker
Managing Partner

Michael R. Goldstein
Associate

TULLY RINCKEY, PLLC
2001 L Street NW, Suite 902
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 787-1900
drucker@fedattorney.com
mgoldstein@fedattorney.com

Counsel for Employee

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

ARGUMENT

This Court has asked the Parties to specifically brief the following issues:

- 1) What does it mean for a legal error to be “clear”?
- 2) Based on that definition, should this Court dismiss this Appeal on the basis that DCRB cannot demonstrate the Superior Court's Remand Order was based on a “clear error of law”?

The remaining part of this section unfolds in four parts. Section A demonstrates that DCRB has independent authority to appoint and classify its employees, and that DCRB has misrepresented its own governing statutes to ignore this fact. Section B presents categorical documentary evidence and direct admissions confirming that DCRB appointed and classified Ms. Sampson as a Career Service employee. Section C demonstrates that, as a direct consequence of her Career Service status, OEA unquestionably has jurisdiction – a fact repeatedly conceded by DCRB itself. Section D highlights DCRB's prior contradictory arguments before the

Superior Court, demonstrating that judicial estoppel and due process principles prevent DCRB from now reversing positions to challenge OEA's jurisdiction.

A. A Legal Error is Clear When it is Obvious Based on the Facts of Each Case

In determining the meaning of the word "clear" within the context of "clear error," a review of this Court's precedents and other D.C. Courts is instructive.

This Court first considered a clear error case involving a remand in *Warner v. District of Columbia Dept. of Employment Services* ("Warner"). See 587 A.2d 1091 (1991). There, it determined whether it was clear error for the Director of Department of Employment Services to remand a case back to the Hearing Examiner to issue findings of fact regarding part of a claimant's worker's compensation claims that the Examiner conducted no analysis and made no findings on, i.e., a retaliatory discharge claim. See *id.* at 1092-94. Because the Hearing Examiner failed to hear evidence and/or make findings on that claim, this Court found that the claimant could not prove that it was clear error for the Director to issue the remand order on that basis, and thus, he could not petition this Court to review the Director's decision. See *id.* (citations omitted). In coming to this decision, this Court needed to examine what it meant for an error to be clear and to do so, it cited multiple cases in other jurisdictions, including an appeal of a worker's compensation claim heard by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court ("PASC"). See *id.*

In that case, the PASC considered whether the Workmen's Compensation Appeal Board ("Board") clearly erred when it remanded the case back to the referee, i.e., hearing examiner. *See Bethlehem Mines Corp. v. Workmen's Comp. Appeal Bd.*, 404 A.2d 1360, 1361–62 (P.A. 1978). The PASC found that the remand order was clear error because the referee had found that the claimant was not injured as a result of his employment based on "manifestly clear" and "substantial, indeed overwhelming, competent evidence", and thus, the Board clearly erred in ordering a remand back to the referee to hear from another medical practitioner to testify about the claimant's injuries. *See id.* In coming to this decision, the PASC cited several other similar cases involving worker's compensation claim appeals of remands by the Board, and found: "So weighty is the evidence in support of the referee's findings and meager the evidence tending to the contrary we might also have permitted this appeal on the basis that "no other conclusion could be supported but that of the Referee" *See id.* at 1361, n. 4 (citing *United Metal Fabricators, Inc. v. Zindash*, 301 A.2d 708, 710 (1973)). In another similar case, the PASC found that a remand was warranted and was not issued based on clear error where additional evidence of the claimant's disability became available after the hearing on his request for worker's compensation was considered. *See Workmen's Comp. Appeal Bd. V. Calder Mfg. Co.*, 346 A.2d 834, 835 (1975).

Just prior to this Court’s decision in *Warner*, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit (“D.C. Circuit”) reviewed the Securities and Exchange Commission’s (“SEC”) request to reverse the U.S. District Court for D.C.’s (“DCD”) remand to the SEC based on an inadequate record involving the agency’s processing of a company’s reverse-Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”) request. *See Occidental Petroleum Corp. v. Sec. and Exch. Comm’n*, 873 F.2d 325 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (“Occidental”). The Court explored the standard of review under the interlocutory circumstances of that case and found that because the case involved “an initial review of the district court’s findings,” the clearly erroneous standard applied therein “to the particularized factual findings that underlay the district court’s determination that the administrative record as a whole was inadequate for review. . . .” *See id.* at 340 (citations omitted). The Court proceeded under that standard of review on the basis that the SEC’s decision to classify the documents at issue as being able to be produced because they had already been made public did not reference any sources of information for that conclusion in the administrative record beyond essentially one news report. Under that clear error standard, the Court upheld the DCD’s remand order on the basis that, *inter alia*:

[T]he SEC’s suggestion that publication of an allegation renders public, and thus subject to release on that ground alone, all information obtained in the course of the ensuing investigation is illogical, incorrect as a matter of fact, and insensitive to the Congress’s purpose to protect confidential business information from disclosure.

See id. at 341. Thus, the Court systematically dismantled the SEC’s arguments that focused on the company’s alleged motive to prevent the information subject to the FOIA request from coming to light, and found the SEC ignored the “competitive significance” of the company’s trade secrets that could be contained in the documents. *See id.*

A decade or so later, the D.C. Circuit had occasion to consider whether a remand was proper by the DCD in a case involving foreign governmental entities suing U.S. tobacco companies. *See Republic of Venez. v. Philip Morris Inc.*, 287 F.3d 192, 195 (D.C. Cir. 2002). Specifically, the appeal involved the DCD’s decision to remand the case back to a Florida court, whereby the tobacco companies sought a writ of mandamus to preclude the DCD from being able to remand and/or transfer the cases back to that court. *See id.* The D.C. Circuit examined the requirements to issue a preemptive writ of mandamus, one of which was that the DCD “clearly erred or abused its discretion.” *See id.* at 198. That Court found that the tobacco companies failed to provide any significant rationale as to how the DCD committed clear error or abused its discretion in remanding the case, as it could not identify precedent where that court could assert jurisdiction in a similar manner, and denied their petition for a writ, accordingly. *See id.* 198, 199.

Outside of the worker’s compensation and remand context, other courts have reviewed whether other decisions by lower courts and/or other administrative bodies

were based on clear and/or plain error. For example, the Supreme Court considered in a criminal case whether an alleged error made by a lower court was plain error under Fed. R. Crim. P. 52, and described plain error as follows: “Plain is synonymous with clear, or equivalently, obvious. . . . At a minimum, court of appeals cannot correct an error pursuant to Rule 52(b) unless the error is clear under current law.” *United States v. Olano*, 507 U.S. 725, 734 (1993) (citations omitted) (cleaned up). It also found that the error had to “affect substantial rights” and “seriously affect the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings.” *See id.* at 732 (citations omitted).

DC’s federal courts have also considered clear error in the context of various other types of cases. For example, clear error has arisen in the motion for reconsideration context, where that relief is only warranted where “the moving party shows new facts or clear errors of law which compel the court to change its prior position.” *See Carter v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth.*, 503 F.3d 143, 145, n.2 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (quoting *Nat’l Ctr. For Mfg. Sci. v. Dep’t of Defense*, 199 F.3d 507, 511 (D.C. Cir. 2000)). The DCD granted reconsideration of its prior decision in a case based on clear error after it concluded that it was clear error to not remand the case back to the agency, after it erroneously misread the pertinent regulations at issue regarding coverage of certain therapy for the plaintiff’s child. *See Berge v. United States*, 949 F. Supp. 2d 36, 42, 43 (D.D.C. 2013) (“Because the Court’s decision was

expressly predicated solely on the perceived “inconsistency” of covering ABA therapy under the ECHO Program and not under the Basic Program, its conclusion that remand was not appropriate is fatally undermined.”)

The issue of clear error has also come up in the context of reviewing the findings of a Special Master. In *Berger v. Iron Workers Reinforced Rodmen*, *Loc. 201*, the D.C. Circuit explained that the Special Master’s findings at DCD in relation to remedies due for employees who had successfully proven racial discrimination are reviewed under the “clearly erroneous standard.” *See* 170 F.3d 1111, 1119 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (citations omitted). While that Court upheld most of the findings of the Special Master, it found a couple of his findings were clear error for obvious mistakes he made in his analysis. *See id.* at 1119. For these findings, the Court went in explicit detail to explain why based on the evidence provided, the Special Master made erroneous conclusions based on his analysis regarding those points. For example, it found that “The Special Master failed to include “zero-hour” workers (workers who for a number of years worked zero hours as union rodmen) in the determination of the average number of hours worked by a union rodman in the relevant time period, and he failed entirely to address the “fixed-pie” issue raised by the unions’ expert, Dr. Farrell Bloch.” *See id.* at 1119, 1122, 1123.

The D.C. Circuit also reviewed the DCD’s factual findings of a Guantanamo detainee habeas petition case in *Latif v. Obama* under the clear error standard. 677

F.3d 1175, 1178 (D.C. Cir. 2011). In concurrence, Justice Karen Henderson examined what clear error requires in that context given the dissenting opinion's concerns, reasoning that the "clear error standard requires us to reverse a factual finding if on the entire evidence[,] we are left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." *See id.* at 1200 (citations omitted). She cited to Supreme Court precedents discussing clear error for that proposition, which are instructive herein. The Supreme Court explored the definition of "clear error" in *Anderson v. City of Bessemer City, N.C.*, reciting the above sentiment from Judge Henderson's concurrence, and also stating that clear error is not present where the reviewing court "is convinced that it would have decided the case differently. . . . [Because i]f the district court's account of the evidence is plausible," it still cannot reverse the lower court. 70 U.S. 564, 573–74 (1985) (citation omitted) (cleaned up).

What is clear from the research laid out herein is that courts in this jurisdiction look at: 1) the factual record and determinations made by a court or administrative body; 2) the party arguing clear error has the burden of proving the remand or other issue before it was obvious or clear; 3) whether other, prior cases found the remand or other ruling at issue to be clear error; and 4) in the cases where these courts have found clear error existed, the decisions under which they came to that conclusion were based on obvious mistakes in analyzing the facts and/or law of the case at hand. What is missing from this appeal by DCRB, then, is any factual (or legal)

determination of any kind from which it appeals, as well as any case that stands for the proposition that the Superior Court clearly erred in issuing its Remand Order. *See Republic of Venez.*, 287 F.3d at 198, 199. These omissions are fatal to its appeal.

The Superior Court remanded the case to OEA to specifically make a determination about its own jurisdiction, and thus, made no determinations about anything, much less jurisdiction. This is important to keep in mind, as cases where courts are deciding matters of jurisdiction, they have inherent authority to use whatever methods and/or have the case heard in whichever venue they determine is warranted to help them decide that issue, and it would not be plain and/or clear error for them to do so, especially where no case has found the ruling to be clear error. *See Walker v. United States*, 201 A.3d 586, 594 (D.C. 2019) (citations omitted); *D.C. Pub. Emp. Rels. Bd. v. Fraternal Ord. of Police, et al.*, 987 A.2d 1205, 1206, n.1 (D.C. 2010) (citation omitted).

Moreover, beyond focusing on conclusory arguments pertaining to CMPA provisions, DCRB fails to provide legitimate reasons as to how the Superior Court erred in remanding the case, as it completely ignores its own enabling statute and the legislative history of the CMPA and that statute as discussed, *infra*, since it presents the standard of review as being *de novo* instead of clearly erroneous. *See Appellant's Br.* at 13. The deferential clearly erroneous standard applies over the non-deferential *de novo* standard herein as administrative agencies and courts should

be given substantial deference in reviewing the facts before them and making determinations based on that unless they *clearly* came to the wrong conclusion. In that way, clear errors of law are synonymous or at least similar to errors that are plain, as these errors must truly be errors, must be plain, or obvious, must have “affected appellant’s substantial rights,” and must have “seriously affect[ed] the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings.” *Walker*, 201 A.3d at 594 (citations omitted) (cleaned up). And in determining whether the Superior Court erred in ordering a remand, for example, the appealing party must demonstrate that the court clearly erred in order to be foreclosed by the finality exception to remand orders by providing an example of a prior case where remanding the case for the reason provided by the court was found to be clear and/or plain error. *See id.*

B. The Remand Order was not Based on Clear Error

While DCRB argues that based on D.C. Code § 1-608.51, for example, that it was clear error for the Superior Court to remand this matter to OEA to determine its jurisdiction, this could not be further from the case. As described herein, DCRB ignores its own enabling statute about its classification authority for its employees, and the legislative history of this statute and the CMPA. Together, these two things help demonstrate that DCRB appropriately classified Ms. Sampson as Career Service during her tenure, and that the CMPA provisions DCRB points to for its *de facto* clear error of law argument are non-dispositive on Ms. Sampson’s

classification since the facts control here—not the law. Those things, in addition to the lack of precedential case stating otherwise, results in the conclusion that the Superior Court’s Remand Order was not based on clear error and, in fact, was entirely proper. That being said, based on the arguments and facts Ms. Sampson highlights in the subsections, *infra*, this Court could make the determination of OEA’s jurisdiction in the first instance and specifically find that OEA properly had jurisdiction over Ms. Sampson’s appeal of her removal from DCRB.

I. Legislative History of the CMPA and DCRB’s Enabling Statute

The D.C. Government enacted the CMPA, D.C. Law 2-139, in 1978, and it became effective on March 3, 1979. At that time, as relevant herein, this law did not contain a Legal Service or Senior Executive Attorney Service position, and was created in conjunction with the Home Rule Act, Pub. L. 93-198, “to enact a merit system for District government employees.” *See Newman v. District of Columbia*, 518 A.2d 698, 702 (D.C. 1986), overruled in part on other grounds (citation omitted) (citing D.C. Code 1-201 (1981); § 1-242). Under that statute, a public employee has “comprehensive rights to notice, hearing, appeal, and judicial review . . .” and can appeal certain adverse actions to OEA. *See District of Columbia v. Thompson*, 593 A.2d 621, 626, 628 (1991). The CMPA also has provisions that govern items such as classifications of service, compensation, and employee rights and responsibilities. *See id.* at 631, n.19.

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